

## Original Research Article

# Phytochemical screening and *in vitro* antibacterial activity of the aqueous extract of *Phyllanthus niruri* L. from Kasai Oriental in DR Congo

## ABSTRACT

**Objectives:** The aim of this work is to carry out a phytochemical study and to evaluate *in vitro* the antibacterial potential of the aqueous extract of *Phyllanthus niruri*, a plant traditionally used in Kasai Oriental (DR Congo) against various bacteriosis and other non-bacterial diseases.

**Study design:** *P. niruri* was selected from a list resulting from an ethnobotanical survey carried out in Kasai Oriental because of the number of citations and recipes involving it, the level of preference of the species as well as the diversity of diseases treated and the plebiscite of its effectiveness by local traditional healers. To contribute to the enhancement of this plant traditionally used against various bacteriosis and to confirm its potential antibacterial power, it was subjected to phytochemical screening and its aqueous extract was tested *in vitro* on bacterial strains.

**Place and duration of the study:** The period of this research went from December 2017 to February 2018. The analyzes were carried out at the physico-chemical and microbiological analysis laboratories of the Congolese Control Office of Mbuji mayi (DR Congo) and at the Biology and Chemistry laboratories of the ISP Mbuji mayi.

**Methodology:** The chemical groups of the bioactive substances were sought using the classic methods of characterization in solution by precipitation, coloring and foam reactions. The diameters of the zones of inhibition, MICs and CMBs of the aqueous extract of this plant were determined *in vitro* against 20 bacterial strains subjected to the test.

**Results:** *P. niruri* contains various bioactive chemical groups. Its aqueous extract showed antibacterial activity *in vitro* against several of 20 tested bacterial strains. According to the MICs and CMBs, the inhibitory action spectrum covers 12 bacterial strains out of the 20 tested.

**Conclusion:** The results found confirm that *P. niruri* has antibacterial principles and a therapeutic potential by the presence of several bioactive substances and the inhibitory power of its aqueous extract on some bacterial strains tested.

Comment [D1]: delete

**Keywords :** *Phyllanthus niruri* -Kasai Oriental – Phytotherapy – Bacteriosis – Antibacterial activity.

Comment [D2]: Please arrange in alphabetical order..

## 1. INTRODUCTION

According to the WHO, traditional medicine is increasingly in demand in Africa in general and in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (RDC) in particular [1-2]. It is known that more than 40% of the African population carry out all disease treatment procedures within traditional phytotherapy [3]. An ethnobotanical survey carried out by our research team [4] identified 116 plants traditionally used to treat various bacterial pathologies in Kasai Oriental in DRC. Among these plants is *P. niruri*, a Phyllanthaceae developing in the eco-climatic conditions of Kasai Oriental and which was cited 463 times by 324 (82.86%) of 391 traditional healers interviewed. The latter consider this species as effective against several diseases specifically or possibly bacterial (example: cystitis, gonorrhea, infectious diarrhea, urinary tract infections, typhoid fever, tuberculosis) and other non-bacterial (diabetes, menstrual bleeding, hepatitis B, illness chronic kidney disease, amoebiasis, verminosis, schistosomiasis or bilharziasis, oxyuriasis, intestinal worms and malaria, and kidney stones).

The frequency of citations of this species (FC = 118.41%), the level of preference (LP = 83%), the index of diversity of recipes or use (IDR = 1.43), as well as the variety of diseases treated and the plebiscite of its effectiveness show that this species is well appreciated by the traditional healers of Kasai Oriental [4-5]. However, these assertions on the curative power of *P. niruri* on various bacteriosis are beautiful but remain all declarative and need scientific proof.

Indeed, the traditional pharmacopoeia of the DR Congo [6] mentions that the methanolic extract of the leaves of *P. niruri* growing in Bas-Congo (western DRC) was active against *S. aureus* and that of the leaves with physiological saline was active against *S. aureus* and *Pasteurella pestis*. In the West African Pharmacopoeia [7], mention is made of the antibacterial properties of certain varieties of this species, while Khan et al. [8] confirms the anticonococcal activity of this plant in Madagascar. Even if it must be admitted that individuals or varieties of the same species do not necessarily have the same chemical composition everywhere in the world due to the difference in their eco-climatic environments, the diversity of bacteriosis traditionally treated with this plant raises questions regarding the therapeutic potential and spectrum of antibacterial activity of *P. niruri* from Kasai Oriental.

Thus, this study is conducted with the aim of scientifically proving the therapeutic potential and antibacterial activities of *P. niruri* harvested in Kasai Oriental (RDC). This, including some germs responsible for pathologies against which this plant is used. To achieve this objective, the phytochemical screening of the whole plant of *P. niruri* is carried out, the diameters of the zones of possible inhibition and the minimum inhibitory (MIC) and bactericidal (MBC) concentrations of the aqueous extract of this plant are determined in vitro on 20 bacterial strains (isolates and reference strains) of 13 different species.

## 2. MATERIAL ET METHODS

### 2.1. Materials

#### 2.1.1. The analytical framework

The experimental analyzes of this study were carried out from December 2017 to February 2018 at the physico-chemical analysis laboratory and the microbiology laboratory of the Congolese Control Office (OCC) as well as in the Biology and Chemistry laboratories of the ISP in Mbuji-Mayi (Kasai oriental province, DRC).

#### 2.1.2. Microbiological material

In this work, 20 bacterial strains of 13 species responsible for bacteriosis were tested, including 12 strains of different species isolated locally and 8 reference strains of 8 species (Table 1).

Table 1: Bacterial germs used

N°	Gram type	Isolate strains	Reference strains
1.	–	<i>Citrobacter freundii</i>	<i>Citrobacter freundii</i> ATCC 43864
2.	–	<i>Enterobacter aerogenes</i>	<i>Enterobacter aerogenes</i> ATCC 13048
3.	–	<i>Escherichia coli</i>	<i>Escherichia coli</i> ATCC 8739
4.	–	<i>Klebsiella pneumoniae</i>	<i>Klebsiella pneumoniae</i> ATCC BAA-1144
5.	–	<i>Proteus mirabilis</i>	-
6.	–	<i>Proteus vulgaris</i>	<i>Proteus vulgaris</i> ATCC 6380
7.	–	<i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i>	<i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i> ATCC 15442
8.	+	<i>Streptococcus faecalis</i>	<i>Staphylococcus epidermidis</i> ATCC 12228
9.	–	<i>Salmonella typhi</i>	-
10.	+	<i>Staphylococcus albus</i>	-
11.	+	<i>Staphylococcus aureus</i>	<i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> ATCC 6538P
12.	+	<i>Streptococcus D</i>	-
TOTALS		12	8

#### 2.1.3. Plant material

The plant material consisted of the whole plant of *P. niruri* (local names: Kahungahunga, kapungapunga in Tshiluba and kapondo in Songie). It was collected on December 20, 2017 in the district of Professors, commune of Kanshi in Mbuji-Mayi in the province of Kasai Oriental (DRC). *P. niruri* is a fairly ubiquitous Phyllanthaceae in Kasai Oriental. It is a herbaceous, erect, entirely glabrous annual plant, measuring 20 to 60 cm in height. It is ruderal and grows back in the fields. Its flowers with separate sexes are inserted on the branches, solitary in the axils of the leaves. The male flowers are at the bottom of the branch, the female flowers at the top.

## 2.2. Methods

#### 2.2.1. Treatment of plant material

Once harvested, the plant material was directly dusted and spread out for drying in the dark for 5 to 10 days at the temperature of the dark room of the OCC/Mbuji-Mayi laboratory. This varied between 22°C to 35°C during the day with an average of 27.2°C for the period concerned (Cfr the quality management system

Comment [D3]: mentioned

Comment [D4]: mentioned

Comment [D5]: was

Comment [D6]: from

Comment [D7]: The present study

Comment [D8]: was

Comment [D9]: were

Comment [D10]: Materials and Methods

Comment [D11]: at

records of the ambient conditions of the Microbiology Laboratory of the OCC MBUJIMAYI). Once dried, a sample was crushed, sieved (sieve with 550 µm mesh) and kept.

### **2.2.2. Chemical screening**

Qualitative phytochemical screening was performed using *P. niruri* powder. The chemical groups of bioactive substances investigated were: alkaloids, tannoids, leucoanthocyanins, flavonoids, steroids, terpenoids, quinones and saponins. They were sought by standard methods of characterization in solution based on coloration, precipitation and foam reactions as described by Bruneton [9] and whose operating modes were inspired by Badiaga [10] and Musuasua et al. [11].

### **2.2.3. Preparation of crude aqueous extracts**

Inspired by the approach recommended by Sule [12] and Ouattara [13], the crude aqueous extract of *P. niruri* was obtained by maceration with magnetic stirring of 100 g of dry powder of *P. niruri* on which was poured 1000 mL boiling distilled water. After at least 8 hours of shaking, filter the mixture aseptically through sterilized filter paper under the laminar flow hood. Distributed the filtrate in the valves of sterilized and previously weighed Petri dishes, then evaporated until dry in an oven between 45 to 50°C. The dry residue obtained constituted the crude aqueous extract.

Comment [D12]: filtered

### **2.2.4. Bacterial strains used**

The reference bacterial strains used in this work were obtained free of charge from the OCC Kinshasa, Mbuji mayi, Lubumbashi and Goma laboratories or purchased from PHARMALAB in Kinshasa. The strains of bacteria isolated locally were from cuproculture, urine culture, blood culture and bacteriological spermoculture in the Bacteriology Department of the ISTM Mbuji mayi Laboratory. Verification of the purity of each strain was carried out according to the classic principles recommended by Carbonnelle [14] and Le Minor [15] before use at the OCC Mbuji mayi microbiology laboratory.

### **2.2.5. Antibacterial effect of the aqueous extract**

It is the qualitative method by diffusion in a solid medium from a disc impregnated with extract which was used to detect the antibacterial effect of *P. niruri*. The procedure followed was that used by Musuasua et al. [11] which was inspired by CLSI [16], Tsobou [17] and Voukeng [18]. The negative control was ensured by a disc with distilled water. A CLSI disk of an usual antibiotic (Ampicillin (10 µg), Gentamicin (high load, 120 µg), Cefixime (5 µg) or Nalidixic Acid (30 µg) chosen according to the recommendations of the Antibigram Committee of the French Society of Microbiology constituted the positive control [19-20].

### **2.2.6. Evaluation of the antibacterial activity of the aqueous extract**

It is by determining the critical concentrations of the aqueous extract of *P. niruri* on each of the sensitive germs that the antibacterial activities of the extract were evaluated. The Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) was determined by the serial double dilution method. To obtain MICs and later MBCs closer to reality, the technique was adapted in this work to bring the concentrations of the series closer on the basis of the recommendations of Baker [21] relating to the significant inhibitory concentrations of the extracts. Indeed, instead of a single series of dilutions to prepare the range of concentrations of the aqueous extract to be tested, two series of parallel dilutions were initiated from two stock solutions of different concentrations as carried out in our previous work [11]. The first stock solution at 32 mg/mL made it possible to obtain the concentrations as recommended by Bruneton [9] and the second stock solution at 24 mg/mL made it possible to introduce intermediate concentrations throughout the series.

The procedures followed to obtain the series of concentrations, for the preparation of the inoculum, for the inoculation-tests as well as for the reading and interpretation of the results are exactly in line with those used in our previous work [11].

The inoculation of the test tubes was done by aseptically introducing 1 mL of the inoculum (approximately 1.5.10<sup>8</sup> cfu) into each of the tubes from no. 1 to no. 19. The concentration range of the aqueous extract after inoculation was from 8000 µg/mL in tube no. 1 to 23.4375 µg/mL in tube no. 18 [22]. Tube no. 19 is the blank control. The last two control tubes 20 and 21 intended for the sterility control were not inoculated. At the time of reading, each test tube was compared to the 3 control tubes before concluding. The results were scored as follows:

- If a test tube is cloudy, the result is noted (–) because the extract did not inhibit the growth of bacteria. In other words, the concentration of the antibacterial principles of the extract is lower for it to be active on the germ.

- If, on the other hand, a test tube remains unchanged or clear, then the inoculated bacteria have been inhibited by the extract at this concentration and the result is noted (+).

**a. Determination of the Minimum Inhibitory Concentration of an active aqueous extract**

On the series of test tubes arranged in ascending order, the MIC of the extract is the concentration of the last tube which remained macroscopically clear to the naked eye [23]. As this study evaluated a crude aqueous extract of a plant, it was only considered active on a germ when the MIC was less than or equal to 500 µg/mL as recommended by Rios [24], Archambaud [25] and Lawal [26]. Thus, depending on the MIC on a strain, the action of the extract are considered as follows:

- 1) If the MIC > 500 µg/mL, the extract has weak or insufficient antibacterial activity. It is therefore inactive and the germ is resistant to it.
- 2) If the MIC ≤ 500 µg/mL but greater than 250 µg/mL, the germ is sensitive and the extract exhibits moderate antibacterial activity;
- 3) If the MIC ≤ 250 µg/mL but greater than 125 µg/mL, the extract has strong antibacterial activity;
- 4) Finally, if the MIC ≤ 125 µg/mL, the extract has very strong antibacterial activity.

**b. Determination of the Minimum Bactericidal Concentration (MBC) of the aqueous extract**

Following the recommendations of Rios [24] and CA-SFM [20], 100 µL of the contents of each macroscopically clear tube from the CMI tube were collected and inoculated according to the counting technique to test sterility and/or count the bacteria that have remained revivable. The concentration of the last tube in which all the bacteria were killed or in which it was counted less than 100 cfu/mL after 24 hours of incubation was considered as the Minimum Bactericidal Concentration (MBC) of the extract on the germ concerned.

**c. Determination of the type of antibacterial action of the extract on inhibited bacteria**

The CMB/CMI ratio made it possible to characterize the antibacterial action of bactericide or bacteriostatic. Once again for this work which evaluated a crude aqueous extract, the interpretation of the CMB/CMI ratios was made according to the recommendations of Moroh [27] which are identical to those of the Antibioqram Committee of the French Society of Microbiology (table 2) [20, 24].

Table 2: Determination of the type of antibacterial activity of the extract

N°	Operation of CMB and CMI	Antibacterial activity of the extract
1	If the ratio $\frac{MBC}{MIC} = 1$	absolute bactericidal
2	If $1 < \frac{MBC}{MIC} \leq 4$	Bactericidal
3	If $4 < \frac{MBC}{MIC} < 16$	Bacteriostatic
4	If $\frac{MBC}{MIC} \geq 16$	Extract tolerance

### 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 3.1. Presentation of results

##### 3.1.1. Phytochemical Screening Results for *P. niruri*

Table 3 presents the bioactive chemical groups found in this plant.

Table 3: Bioactive chemical groups present in *P. niruri*

N°	Bioactive chemical groups	Results
1.	Alkaloids	+
2.	Quinones	-
3.	Tannins	+++
4.	Gallic tannins	(+)
5.	Catechic tannins	+

6.	Catechols	-
7.	Flavones	-
8.	Flavonones	+
9.	Flavonols and flavononols	-
10.	Leucoanthocyanins	+
11.	Free genins	-
12.	Steroids	+
13.	Terpenes	+
14.	Saponin index	25

Reading this table 3, *P. niruri* contains 9 chemical groups of bioactive metabolites out of the 14 sought. It contains alkaloids, tannins (gallic and catechic), flavonones, leucoanthocyanins, steroids, terpenes and saponins. Quinones, catechols, flavones, flavonols (and flavononols) as well as free genins were not detected in this species.

### 3.1.2. Diameters of the *in vitro* zones of inhibition of bacteria by the aqueous extract of *P. niruri*

The results of the inhibition tests of the bacterial strains subjected to the tests by the aqueous extracts of *P. niruri* are recorded in Table 4.

Table 4: Diameters of the zones of inhibition of bacteria by the aqueous extract of *P. niruri*

Origins of strains	Bacterial strains	aqueous extract	Usual antibiotic
Reference strains	<i>P. vulgaris</i> ATCC 6380	16.8	25.1
	<i>S. epidermidis</i> ATCC 12228	14.1	29.9
	<i>C. freundii</i> ATCC 43864	13.8	21.9
	<i>S. aureus</i> ATCC 6538P	13.4	26.2
	<i>P. aeruginosa</i> ATCC 15442	11.9	28.2
	<i>E. aerogenes</i> ATCC 13048	11.3	18.1
	<i>E. coli</i> ATCC 8739	10.9	17.5
	<i>K. pneumoniae</i> ATCC BAA-1144	6.0	14.1
ISOLATES or strains of bacteria isolated locally	<i>S. faecalis</i>	16.3	27.4
	<i>Streptococcus D</i>	16.2	22.5
	<i>P. mirabilis</i>	16.1	18.8
	<i>P. vulgaris</i>	15.1	18.5
	<i>S. aureus</i>	14.1	23.4
	<i>C. freundii</i>	13.5	30.4
	<i>E. aerogenes</i>	11.6	15.9
	<i>E. coli</i>	11.5	23.3
	<i>S. albus</i>	11.5	28.5
	<i>P. aeruginosa</i>	11.4	25.3
	<i>K. pneumoniae</i>	6.0	14.2
	<i>S. typhi</i>	6.0	20.7

Table 4 shows that with discs soaked in a solution of 8 mg/mL aqueous extract of *P. niruri*, 17 of the 20 bacterial strains tested in this study were inhibited. The diameters of the inhibition zones vary from 10.9 mm to 16.8 mm depending on the germs. However, they are lower than the inhibition diameters of the usual antibiotics used.

### 3.1.3. MIC, CMB and action spectra of the aqueous extract of *P. niruri*

The results of the *in vitro* evaluation of the performance of the antibacterial power of the aqueous extract of *P. niruri* on the inhibited germs compared to the 20 strains of 13 bacterial species subjected to the tests are recorded in Table 5.

Tableau 5 : Antibacterial parameters of aqueous extracts of *P. niruri*

N°	BACTERIAL STRAINS	Inhibition zone diameter	MBC in µg/ml	MIC in µg/ml	Ratio CMB/CMI	Types of Action on Bacteria	Activity of the aqueous extract
1.	<i>P. vulgaris</i> ATCC 6380	16.8	500	125	4.0	Bactericidal	Very strong
2.	<i>S. faecalis</i>	16.3	750	250	3.0	Bactericidal	strong
3.	<i>Streptococcus D</i>	16.2	750	250	3.0	Bactericidal	strong
4.	<i>P. mirabilis</i>	16.1	750	250	3.0	Bactericidal	strong
5.	<i>S. albus</i>	15.5	1000	375	2.7	Bactericidal	Moderate
6.	<i>P. vulgaris</i>	15.1	1000	375	2.7	Bactericidal	Moderate

7.	<i>S. aureus</i>	14.1	1000	375	2.7	Bactericidal	Moderate
8.	<i>S. epidermidis</i> ATCC 12228	14.1	1500	500	3.0	Bactericidal	Moderate
9.	<i>C. freundii</i> ATCC 43864	13.8	2000	375	5.3	Bacteriostatic	Moderate
10.	<i>C. freundii</i>	13.5	1500	500	3.0	Bactericidal	Moderate
11.	<i>S. aureus</i> ATCC 6538P	13.4	1000	500	2.0	Bactericidal	Moderate
12.	<i>E. aerogenes</i> ATCC 13048	12.3	2000	500	4.0	Bactericidal	Moderate
13.	<i>P. aeruginosa</i> ATCC 15442	11.9	2000	750	2.7	Bactericidal	Weak
14.	<i>E. aerogenes</i>	11.6	2000	750	2.7	Bactericidal	Weak
15.	<i>E. coli</i>	11.5	2000	750	2.7	Bactericidal	Weak
16.	<i>P. aeruginosa</i>	11.4	4000	750	5.3	Bacteriostatic	Weak
17.	<i>E. coli</i> ATCC 8739	10.9	4000	1000	4.0	Bactericidal	Weak
18.	<i>K. pneumoniae</i>	6 (-)	-	-	-	Not active	None detected
19.	<i>K. pneumoniae</i> ATCC BAA-1144	6 (-)	-	-	-	Not active	None detected
20.	<i>S. typhi</i>	6 (-)	-	-	-	Not active	None detected

According to the Table 5, the aqueous extract of *P. niruri* inhibited 17 of 20 bacterial strains tested. The aqueous extract of this plant did not inhibit three bacterial strains (*K. pneumoniae*, *K. pneumoniae* ATCC BAA-1144 and *S. typhi*). The best MIC of this extract is 125 µg/mL on *P. niruri*. On susceptible strains, its antibacterial activity ranges from very strong to weak. Indeed, this extract exerts a weak inhibitory activity requiring concentrations greater than 500 µg of extract per mL on five other strains of three different species (isolate and ATCC of *P. aeruginosa* and *E. coli* as well as the isolate of *E. aerogenes*). Together with the previous three, these eight strains are therefore considered insensitive to the aqueous extract of this plant.

This aqueous extract of *P. niruri* has a frank antibacterial activity on the 12 remaining bacterial strains. Its inhibitory activity is very strong (MIC of 125 µg/mL) with bactericidal effects on *P. vulgaris* ATCC 6380 and strong (MIC of 250 µg/mL) and bactericidal on *S. faecalis*, *Streptococcus D* and *P. mirabilis*. On the other hand, it is moderate (MIC of 375 µg/mL) and bacteriostatic on *C. freundii* ATCC 43864 and bactericidal for *S. albus*, *S. aureus* and *P. vulgaris* whereas the MIC is 500 µg/mL for the isolate of *C. freundii* and *S. epidermidis* ATCC 12228, *S. aureus* ATCC 6538P and *E. aerogenes* ATCC 13048.

According to these results, the antibacterial action spectrum of the aqueous extract of *P. niruri* therefore covers 12 of the 20 bacterial strains tested in this work, which are: *P. vulgaris* ATCC 6380, *P. mirabilis*, *C. freundii* ATCC 43864, *S. albus*, *S. aureus*, *P. vulgaris*, *C. freundii*, *S. epidermidis* ATCC 12228, *S. aureus* ATCC 6538P, *E. aerogenes* ATCC 13048, *S. faecalis* and *Streptococcus D*.

The fact that several bacterial strains of pathogenic species have been shown to be sensitive to different extracts of *P. niruri* undoubtedly justifies the use of this plant in traditional Kasai's medicine for the treatment of various bacterial infections.

### 3.2. Discussion

Phytochemical screening of the whole plant of *P. niruri* reveals in this species alkaloids, tannins (gallic and catechic), flavonones, leucoanthocyanins, steroids, terpenes and saponins. These results indicate that in the eco-climatic conditions of Kasai Oriental (DRC), this plant would contain a qualitative diversity of natural bioactive substances likely to confer therapeutic properties on it. These results converge with those of the traditional pharmacopoeia of the DR Congo [6] which states that *P. niruri* from Bas-Congo contains in its aerial part alkaloids, steroids, terpenoids, flavonoids, saponosides, tannins and other polyphenols, lignans. It also has triterpenes (lupeol), alkaloids, tannins, flavonoids, lignans in its roots. The West African Pharmacopoeia [7] also confirms the presence of alkaloids (securinine and related alkaloids), lignans (eg phyllanthin and hypophyllanthin), tannins, flavonoids (quercetin, rutin), saponins in certain varieties of this species. Kabongo [28] and Robineau [29] found fairly similar results for this species. In the Caribbean pharmacopoeia, Robineau [29] confirms the presence of alkaloids, saponins and terpenoids in the extract of *P. niruri* whereas Kabongo by a chemical screening of individuals of the same species collected in Tshilenge part of the Kasai Oriental, had revealed the presence of flavonoids, steroids and tannins in addition to bioactive groups detected by Robineau. The various bioactive chemical groups highlighted in *P. niruri* of Kasai Oriental would explain the satisfaction of the users of this plant in phytotherapy and would justify the medicinal uses on the pathologies treated with this plant. These results also converge with those of Ben-Bala [30] and Musuasua et al. [11] on a related species, *P. muellerianus*. Indeed, by phytochemical tests, Ben-Bala [30] had detected alkaloids, flavonoids, tannins and saponins in the bark of the roots of *P. muellerianus* and had confirmed that these groups of metabolites were responsible for the antibacterial properties in this plant. The study by Musuasua et al. [11] had in turn revealed the existence of alkaloids, quinones, gallic and catechic tannins, leucoanthocyanins, free genins, steroids, terpenes and saponins in the aqueous extracts of leaves, stem bark and of the roots of *P. muellerianus* from Kasai Oriental. And for these authors, the aqueous extracts of this plant had also shown a notable antibacterial activity. Similar bioactive chemical groups are found in *P. niruri* from Kasai Oriental and are likely to confer antibacterial power on it as well. Tests performed *in vitro* on antibacterial activity in this work demonstrated that the aqueous extract of *P. niruri* inhibited 17 of 20 bacterial strains tested. According to the MICs and CMBs, the inhibition performance

Comment [D13]: confirmed

Comment [D14]: confirmed



varies according to the germs. The sensitivity of various bacterial strains to the extract is also variable. With respect to these 20 bacterial strains tested, the action spectrum of the aqueous extract of this plant only includes 12 strains of 9 species out of the 13 tested. The inhibition of five other strains was found weak and are considered insensitive.

The conclusions of this study confirm those of the West African Pharmacopoeia [7] which reported antibacterial properties of certain *P. niruri* varieties. The same applies to the traditional pharmacopoeia of the DR Congo [6] which reports the antibacterial activity of extracts (methanolic and physiological saline) of the leaves of *P. niruri* from Bas-Congo on *S. aureus* and *Pasteurella pestis* without forgetting then that Khan et al. [8] who demonstrated the anticonococcal activity of this plant in Madagascar.

The diversity of bacterial strains inhibited by the aqueous extract of this plant in this study explains and supports the multiple ethnomedicinal uses of this plant species against several bacteriosis in Kasai Oriental. The similarity of the results of this work with those found by other researchers elsewhere demonstrates the relevance of endogenous knowledge associated with local plant species in Kasaiian herbal medicine.

These results confirm the conclusions from the ethnobotanical survey that *P. niruri* was one of the plants known to be effective against some bacteriosis and other non-bacterial diseases in Kasai Oriental [4]. The frequency of citations and the number of recipes show that this species brings satisfaction to users and the presence of bioactive substances with therapeutic properties in its composition would be the basis of the plebiscite of efficacy attributed to it.

#### 4. CONCLUSION

*P. niruri* is a plant species widely used in herbal medicine in Kasai Oriental, a province of the DRC. Its frequency of use is high and the bacterial diseases treated are numerous. The declarations on the effectiveness of medicinal recipes containing this plant without any scientific proof had raised questions about the relevance of the practices concerned. Thus, to enhance this plant and attempt to scientifically justify its therapeutic use, this research was conducted to determine its phytochemical composition in bioactive metabolites and to evaluate *in vitro*, the antibacterial potential of its aqueous extract.

To achieve this, phytochemical screening seeking fourteen chemical groups of bioactive substances was carried out and the *in vitro* evaluation of the antibacterial activity of the aqueous extract by determining the diameters of the zones of inhibition as well as the minimum inhibitory and bactericidal concentrations against the 20 bacterial strains of 13 species responsible for bacteriosis tested.

The results obtained confirm the therapeutic potential of *P. niruri* by:

- The presence in its chemical composition of several bioactive chemical groups (alkaloids, steroids, terpenes, saponosides, tannins and flavonoids);
- The antibacterial power of its aqueous extract on several bacterial strains with an action spectrum covering 12 strains which are: *P. vulgaris* ATCC 6380, *P. mirabilis*, *C. freundii* ATCC 43864, *S. albus*, *S. aureus*, *P. vulgaris*, *C. freundii*, *S. epidermidis* ATCC 12228, *S. aureus* ATCC 6538P, *E. aerogenes* ATCC 13048, *S. faecalis* and *Streptococcus D*.

From the above, this plant is likely to provide new healing molecules. This could allow the development of improved traditional medicines accessible to low-income households.

Work to isolate the molecules responsible for the antibacterial activity of this plant is in progress.

#### 5. REFERENCES

1. WHO. STIs and STDs: What's the difference? UNAIDS Global Status Report; 2009.
2. WHO. Traditional medicine. Fact sheet No. 134; 2003.
3. Kalanda K, Musuasua M and Ndala K. Detection of antibacterial properties of aqueous extracts of some medicinal plants used in Mbuji-Mayi. Annales de l'ISP/MBUJIMAYI, French. 2005; 13: 5-22. French.
4. Musuasua MM, Kabena ON, Kalanda LK, Masens DMY and Mpiana PT. Floristic and Eco-Morphological Study of Antibacterial Plants in Phytotherapeutic Practice of Kasai Oriental in DR Congo. Journal of Complementary and Alternative Medical Research. 2021; 14(2): 19-41.
5. Sidio S-R, N'guessan K, Abrou N'g. E J and Kouadio GV. Plants used in traditional medicine against hemorrhoidal pathology by the Bété of the sub-prefecture of Ouragahio, department of Gagnoa (Ivory Coast). Journal of Applied Biosciences, French. 2020 ; 150: 15403 – 15418.
6. DRC Ministry of Health. Traditional Pharmacopoeia of the Democratic Republic of Congo, 1st Ed. Science and Tradition; 2009. French.

Comment [D15]: were

Comment [D16]: reported

7. West African Health Organization (WAHO/ECOWAS). West African Pharmacopoeia. KS Print Craft GH. Knust Junction; Kumasi, Ghana; 2013. French.
8. Khan, M.R., Ndaalio, G., Nkunya, M.H.H, Wevers, H. Studies on the rationale of African traditional medicine Part II. Preliminary screening of medicinal plants for anticonococci activity, Pak., J. SCI. IND. RES, 1978; 27(516):189-192.
9. Bruneton J. Pharmacognosy – phytochemistry of medicinal plants. 4th ed. revised and expanded. Tec & Doc - International Medical Publishing. Paris; 2009.
10. Badiaga M. Ethnobotanical, phytochemical study and biological activities of *Nauclea Latifolia* Smith, an African medicinal plant harvested in Mali. Doctoral thesis, University of Bamako; 2011.
11. Musuasua MM, Kabena ON, Kalanda LK, BGM Kangudia, DB Mutembue, Masens DMY and PT Mpiana. Phytochemical screening and *in vitro* antibacterial activity of aqueous extracts of *Phyllanthus Müellerianus* (Kunze) Exell from Kasai Oriental in DR Congo. International Journal of Pathogen Research. 2022; 9(1):22-33.
12. Sule M I, Njinga N S, Musa A M, Magaji M G et Abdulla H. Phytochemical and antidiarrheal studies of the stem bark of *Ceiba pentandra* (bombacaceae). Nigerian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2001; 8(1): 143-148.
13. Ouattara L H, Kabran G R M, Guessend N K, Konan K F, Mamyrbekova-Bekro J A, Bekro Y A. In vitro antibacterial activities of root bark extracts of *Mezoneuron benthamianum* and stems of *Paullinia pinnata*: 2 plants of the Ivorian pharmacopoeia. CAMES Review – Pharm Series. Med. Transl. Afr. 2016; 18(1): 31-40. French.
14. Carbonnelle B, Kouyoumdjian S. The techniques and stages of bacteriological analysis. in Collection Carbonnelle B, Denis F, Marmonier A, Pinon G et Vargues R. Medical bacteriology: Usual techniques, SIMEP, Paris; 1989.
15. Le Minor L, Veron M. Medical bacteriology, 2nd edition. Flammarion. Paris; 1989.
16. CLSI (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute). Methods for Dilution Antimicrobial Susceptibility Tests for Bacteria That Grow Aerobically. Approved Standard-Seventh Edition, M7-A7. 2006; 26 (2).
17. Tsobou R, Mapongmetsem P-M, Voukeng K I, Van Damme P. Phytochemical screening and antibacterial activity of medicinal plants used to treat typhoid fever in Bamboutos division, West Cameroon. Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science, 2015; 5(06): 34-49.
18. Voukeng K. Antibacterial activities of eleven Cameroonian spices and effects in combination with antibiotics on multidrug-resistant gram-negative bacteria in vitro. Doctoral Thesis in Microbiology. University of Dshang, Cameroon, 2010.
19. Gulluce M, Sahin F, Sokmen M, Ozer H, Daferera D, Sokmen A, Polissiou M, Adiguzel A et Ozkan H. Antimicrobial and antioxidant properties of the essential oils and methanol extract from *Mentha longifolia* L. ssp. *longifolia*. Food Chemistry, 2007; 103: 1449 –1456.
20. CA-SFM (Comité de l'Antibiogramme de la Société Française de Microbiologie), Recommendations; 2013.
21. Baker CN, Thornsberry C, Hawkinson RW. Inoculum standardization in antimicrobial susceptibility testing: Evaluation of overnight agar cultures and the rapid inoculum standardization system. J Clin. Micro. French. 1983;17:450-457.
22. Washington JA, Warren E, Karlson AG. Stability of Barium Sulfate Turbidity Standards. Appl. Microbiol. French. 1972; 24: 10 -13.
23. Eloff J N. A sensitive and quick microplate method to determine the minimal inhibitory concentration of plant extracts for bacteria. Planta Med. 1998; 64(8): 711-713.
24. Rios J L et Recio M C. Medicinal plants and antimicrobial activity. In Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 2005; 100 (1-2): 80 – 84.
25. Archambaud M. Methods for evaluating the activity of antibiotics in vitro. Bacteriology- Hygiene Laboratory, CHU Rangueil; French. Toulouse; 2009.
26. Lawal O A, Amisu K O, Akinyemi S K, Sanni A A, Simelane M B C, Mosa R A, Opoku A R (). In vitro Antibacterial Activity of Aqueous Extracts of *Bidens pilosa* L. (Asteraceae) from Nigeria. British Microbiology Research Journal, 2014; 8(4): 525-531.
27. Moroh JLA, Bahi C, Dje K, Loukou YG, Guede-Guina F. Study of the antibacterial activity of the acetic extract (EAC) of *Morinda morindoides* (Baker) milne-redheat (Rubiaceae) on the in vitro growth of *Escherichia coli* strains. Bulletin of the Royal Society of Sciences of Liège, French. 2008 ; 77 : 44 – 61.
28. Kabongo MF. Ethnobotanical and chemical study of plants known to be antidiarrhoeal used in the District of Tshilenge, DEA thesis; Pharmacological faculty; UNILU; 2014.



29. Robineau. Towards a Caribbean Pharmacopoeia; Scientific research and popular use of medicinal plants in the Caribbean; Seminar; National Autonomous University of Honduras; 1989.
30. Ben-Bala K D. *Phyllanthus Müellerianus* (Kuntze) Exell. In Schmelzer G H et Gurib-Fakim A. (Editors). PROTA (Plant Resources of Tropical Africa / Ressources végétales de l'Afrique tropicale), Wageningen, Netherlands; 2017.

UNDER PEER REVIEW